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The JVIixed Legacy of Mission Indian A^ent 
S. S. Lawson, 1878-1883 

TANIS THORNE 
University of Cahfornia, Irvine, History Department, Irvine, California 92697 

As Mission Indian Agent from 1878 to 1883, S.S. Lawson presided over a "critical era" in the experience of Southern 

California Indians. The independent rancherias on private Mexican land grants and public domain lands were imperiled 

by the mid-1870s because of a surge in population associated with the coming of the railroad. Indian resources were 

under siege and many Indian communities faced imminent ejection. The federal government hesitated in formulating 

a reservation policy to secure Indians with trust lands for continued self-support Lawson was a conscientious, if 

ethnocentric, administrator who left his mark on history as a passionate advocate of a plan to consolidate the scattered 

communities on a single reservation. His informative correspondence with the Commissioner of Indian Affairs and 

others during his tenure as agent provides a window into the legalized theft of Indian resources in Southern California, 

the efforts of Indians to defend their homelands, and the vacillations of federal policy-makers. 

My 'interest' in the welfare of my Indians, I leave to 
the official record on file for vindication. What I have 
endured in thek behalf in the past years while beating 
back the infamous horde that had been despoiling 
them is but known to myself and to the [Indian] 
Dept.— S.S. Lawson' 

S S. LAWSON WAS THE MISSION INDIAN AGENT 

. in California from 1878-1883, with responsibility 
for an estimated 3,000 Indians concentrated in San 
Bemardino and San Diego counties. The Mission Agency 
was estabhshed m 1877, foUowing the action of President 
U.S. Grant setting aside seventeen reservations m 1875 
and 1876 by executive order (Kappler 1971:819-821).2 
An appomtee of the Rutherford B. Hayes administration, 
Lawson was bom m 1838 m Pennsylvania but removed 
to Cashocton County, Ohio, where he was a pastor hi the 
Evangehcal Lutheran Church m the 1860s. He assumed 
the responsibUities as agent on August 20,1878, havmg 
very httle understandmg of the cuhures or languages m 
Southern California; nor did he speak Spanish, which 
was conunonly spoken among the Luisenos, Cahuillas, 
Serranos, Cupenos, and Diegueiios (Kumeyaay). Lawson's 
character and service were consistent with those of other 
appomtees of Grant's "peace pohcy" program. He brought 
a strict ethical sensibUity, a reformer's zeal, and smcerity 
to his office. Lawson was a conscientious and dedicated 

advocate for the rights of the Mission Indians under his 
charge. He resided in San Bemardino during his five-year 
tenure as Mission Indian Agent. He rethed under a cloud, 
subsequent to the muckraking Jackson-Kinney report on 
the "Conditions of the Mission Indians" of July 1883.̂  

Agent Lawson's correspondence from mid-1878 
to mid-1883 provides an important supplement to the 
Jackson-Kinney Report,'' for Lawson presided over a 
volatile era with much uncertainty and hardship for 
Southem Cahfornia "Mission" Indian conununities. The 
overarching problem was federal vacillation over and 
poor execution of a land pohcy for Southem Califonua, 
leaving many Indians landless or under the threat of 
eviction from their homes. Prior to the "Boom of the 
Eighties," a wave of homesteaders arrived seeking land 
in Southem California as the transcontinental railroad 
was bemg constmcted. As most good land m this dry and 
mountainous environment was monopolized by large 
holdings of Mexican rancho grants, they encroached upon 
pubhc domain lands Indians had hnproved with adobe 
homes, orchards, vineyards, and hrigation (Figure 1). As an 
emergency—but temporary—measure. President Grant 
withdrew a number of blocks of land from the public 
domam, thus exemptmg them from homestead entry. The 
mtent was that these executive-order reservations would 
encompass the viUages and hnprovements of the major. 
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Figure 1. Agua Caliente (Warner's Ranch) Indians spinning yucca fibre yam for making door mats. 
Note the adobe homes, stable village life, and small-scale manufacturing. The Indian rancherias on Warner's Ranch 

were displaced in the early 20th century after a long legal fight. (Pierce Collection, Huntington Library) 

historic Indian communities, thus preserving then abihty 
to support themselves. Too httle arable land had been set 
aside much too late, however. Moreover, a number of the 
larger Indian communities located within the boundaries 
of Mexican land grants at Wamer's Ranch, San Jacinto 
(Soboba), San Pasqual, Cuca, and Santa Ysabel faced 
imminent ejection. 

As Lawson took office m 1878, the federal govem-
ment was bogged down in indecision and ignorance, 
though it was aware of the buUding crisis and had a wiU 
to find a solution. A biU for the "rehef of Mission Indians" 
was under consideration by the Indian office within the 
Department of the Interior and by the congressional 
committee on Indian Affairs. Relieving Indian 
homelessness, poverty, and discontent would perhaps 

necessitate a congressional appropriation in order to 
purchase privately-held lands for one large reservation 
on which the scattered bands would be consohdated. 

The present study draws upon Lawson's correspon­
dence to elucidate this "critical era" for the Mission Indian 
bands of Southem Califomia. A primary objective is to 
examine the nature of the problems confronting them, 
and then actions and responses. A close examination of 
Lawson's correspondence ultimately yields information 
for a second objective of this study: to reevaluate 
Lawson's record as Mission Agent. What did he try to 
accomplish, and what was his impact on the Indians' 
condition? It is not my intent to focus on Lawson's 
personal or professional faUmgs or achievements per se, 
but rather to keep the focus on Indian people and then 
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changmg cncumstances. The predommant understandmg 
of Lawson's career as agent is that the cmsadmg Helen 
Hunt Jackson, as Special Agent to investigate the 
conditions of the Mission Indians, preciphated Lawson's 
departure from office because of his meffectuahty, which 
involved his aUeged faUure to visit or adequately protect 
the Indians under his charge. Friction between Agent 
Lawson and Helen Hunt Jackson peaked in May, 1883. 
Though Jackson derued any responsibUity for Lawson's 
resignation, she gloated over it to friends.^ J.G. McCaUum 
replaced Lawson as agent to the Mission Indians on 
October 1, 1883. Thereafter, S.S. Lawson was relegated 
to the shadows of history. Helen Hunt Jackson is widely 
credited with exposing the problems within the Mission 
Indian Agency in the Jackson-Kinney Report and 
prodding Congress to act; many of the recommendations 
in this report were incorporated in the Act for Relief 
of the Mission Indians, which belatedly passed hi 1891. 
Lawson's relationship with Helen Hunt Jackson has 
been examined m the works of historian Valerie Sherer 
Mathes. Mathes and historian Edward Dale endeavored 
to redeem the popular misconception that Lawson was 
a do-nothing. Dale, for example, vindicates Lawson, 
saying he was "conscientious and able" (Dale 1949:87; 
Mathes 1990:23). 

CONDITIONS IN THE MISSION AGENCY, 1878: 
LAWSON'S TOURS AND EARLY REPORTS 

When Lawson became agent, the Indian Office 
instructed him to find land for landless or soon-to-be 
homeless Mission Indians stemming from pressure 
from homesteaders, rancho owners, and Southern 
Cahfornia citizens. Of most urgency was finding a new 
home for the approximately 200 CahuUla and Serrano 
Indians in the San Gorgonio Pass (along the corridor 
of the Southem Pachic RaUroad), whose adobe homes, 
vineyards, orchards, and cultivated lands (in Section 36 
of Township 2 south. Range 1 east) had been set aside 
by executive order by Grant m 1876. Subsequently, the 
federal government reahzed h had erred, as sections 16 
and 36 in every township were designated as state school 
lands. These sections in eight executive-order reserves 
reverted to the pubhc domain in an executive order in 
May, 1877 (Kappler 1971:821). Lawson's early hnpressions 
had a strong mfluence on hhn, and he found the phght of 

the Portrero^ people in the San Gorgonio pass (now 
Morongo Reservation) particularly compelling. He 
labored persistently to redress the hijustice done to them. 
With the knowledge that this desirable Cahuilla land 
had been retumed to the pubhc domain, Lawson wrote 
in August, 1878 that "certain white men have squatted 
on them producing a state of dissatisfaction among the 
Indians which threatens to result in serious comphcations 
if matters are not adjusted speedUy." Lawson made two 
recommendations: first, if possible, "restoring so-called 
school lands to Indians occupying them and giving the 
state other lands in heu of them," and second, 

ordering the boundary lines of aU these Indian lands to 
be marked out that it may be known where they are. 
Then, I earnestly recommend that the titles to the lands 
occupied by the so-called "Mission Indians" especiaUy 
those of the Portrero, be at once settled beyond fur­
ther dispute by the issue of an Executive Order and by 
the proper adjustment of boundaries by survey, so that 
the lands on which they now live, the only spots which 
will afford subsistence, may be confirmed to them 
[Lawson n.d.a:613-1878, Aug. 28,1878]. 

Lawson was quite surprised when there was no 
response from the Indian Office and wrote again the 
foUowing month, stressing the need for action: 

1 find there is a very dissatisfied and unsettled state of 
feeling because of the encroachments of the whites 
upon what they regard as theh lands.The consequence 
is a general wandering about through the country m 
idleness and dissipation to the serious annoyance of 
the settlers in towns and country. I have held out to 
them the promise that Government would do some­
thing toward establishing their claims. And I do hope 
theh expectations and needs will not be neglected.... 
These Indians having lived here for generations, will 
not be driven from it except by force. And the univer­
sal sentiment of the whites, except of those few who 
claim the land—is, that it would be gross injustice 
to remove these Indians from it. They have nowhere 
else to go, as all around them are barren mountains: 
without water, and beyond the mountams is nothing 
but desert. The Dept. may not be aware of the fact that 
water exists only in a few localities in these mountam 
ranges, viz, in the few Portreros now occupied by the 
Indians and to drive them from these, would be to 
subject them to starvation...[Lawson n.d.a:662-1878, 
Sept. 17,1878]. 

From his headquarters m San Bemardino, Lawson 
had quickly realized that Southern California's arid 
chmate was quite unhke the east, and he endeavored to 
educate policy makers in Washington, D.C. about this 
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fact. Lawson realized private lands would have to be 

purchased for the dispossessed. There was absolutely no 

place on the pubhc domain to relocate these CahuiUa and 

Serrano Indians if they were forced to leave Section 36. 

Section 36 could be purchased for the reasonable sum of 

$5,000, he beheved: 

Wherever there is the least water, you will find white 
men living, which lands come under the head of "land 
the title to which has passed out of the United States." 
This fact seems not to be clear to the Dept. that this is 
a desert country.. .Where the least water is found, you 
find some white settler owning it, though he be 30 or 
40 mUes from any other habitation [Lawson n.d.a:826-
1878, Nov 28,1878]. 

By November, 1878, based upon his shght famiharity 
with San Bemardino County, he had formulated a plan 
for solving the Indian problem in Southern Cahfornia 
by creating one large reservation at the Portrero in San 
Gorgonio Pass: 

I would recommend that the sections north, east, and 
west of the above described sections be added to 
it, making 3 sections. For this reason: the one north 
has on it the head of the stream which waters the 
Portrero, as also contains pasture lands that would 
be needed by the Indians. This would obviate any 
future dispute about the rights of water. To the east 
and west are two httle canyons leading into the head 
of the Portrero, which have a httle wood and might 
also be cultivated. Given these three sections, and the 
boundaries marked, so that they might know where 
is theh limit, there would be no future disputes, and 
they would be provided for amply. In which case I 
would gather [the] wandering [desert] Indians upon 
it, keep them there with the few hundred now on it, 
and set them all to work to unprove h and make theh 
livmg.The adjustment of matters at this place as 1 have 
uidicated, if at all in the range of possibility, wiU solve 
substantially the whole difficulty with regard to the 
Mission Indians.... I say this is the best that can be 
done, and the only thing that shoidd be done. Speedy 
actions should be taken to quiet the restlessness and 
uncertauity which is felt on all hands here in relation to 
these matters [Lawson n.d.a:826-1878, Nov. 28,1878]. 

As instmcted, Lawson made a fact-finding tour of the 

country under his jurisdiction in late 1878. The first tour 

of about a week m length was made of five reservations 

in CahuiUa country, includmg Morongo, Agua Cahente, 

Cabezon, Torres, and Martinez; in a second trip in mid-

December, 1878, Lawson visited nine reservations 

in mountainous country to the south in eleven days, 

including San Jacinto, Pechanga, CahuiUa, Pala, Rincon, 

Santa Ysabel, Aguanga, and Agua Cahente (Warner's 
Ranch), as weU as the besieged San Pasqual community. 
The two reports filed with the Indian Office m late 1878 
provide a window into conditions at the time and are 
reproduced ahnost m theh enthety below. The first report 
reiterated his plan for the reservation at Portrero in San 
Gorgonio Pass. The second report suggested that the 
San Diego Indians be also transferred to his proposed 
reservation in San Bemardmo County. 

LAWSON TO COMMISSIONER OF INDIAN 
AFFAIRS E. A. HAYT, DEC. 26,1878 

...On the 13th of last month I started on a tour of 
inspection among the Indians living on the desert 
toward Yuma, and known as "desert Indians,"—with 
the view, both to learn their condition and to en­
able me to make an intelligent estimate of agricul­
tural implements needed by them, as ordered by the 
Department. The same day I came to the Portrero m 
San Gorgonio Pass. It may not be necessary to call 
attention to the skuation of the Indians at this place, 
since the Department has full knowledge of it... .An 
order from the Dept. is now pending for theh removal. 
I know not yet whither. 

On the 14th I visited the Agua Caliente [Palm 
Springs]. Here the situation is httle better. On account 
of the limited supply of water, only a smaU part of the 
section of land set apart for them can be cultivated 
and even this is claimed in part by a "land grabber" 
who owns lands on RaU Road land adjoining it. Here 
I found most of the Indians absent, laboring for ranch­
men fifty and sixty miles away. The old men and wom­
en were at home, m a condition of wretchedness, by 
reason of destitution, such as I had never seen. Among 
their number were some helpless on account of age 
and hteraUy naked. I found them lying on the ground 
in theh huts, their shoulders and sides being callous 
from constant contact with the hard earth. They had 
nothing to eat but a sort of bean [mesquite], which 
grows on the desert and which is pulverized in a mor­
tar and moistened with water. The sight was pitiable in 
the extreme. And I wished m my heart, that the men of 
this great Government, who have it in theh power to 
provide something better for these unfortunate Mis­
sion Indians, could have the opportunity to see what 
I here witnessed. 

I purchased a sack of flour on my return and 
requested an Indian woman, the only one able to 
do anything, to feed the others with it. What little 
land these Indians have, that produces anything, is 
utterly insufficient to afford them any better living. 
It would be an act of mercy to remove them at once, 
if there were any place to put them that promised 
anythmg better. 
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On the 15th I went to Torres, thirty miles 
farther east on the desert, visiting on the way a smaU 
Rancheria, known as "the Rmcon."The hidians livmg 
here, are few and destitute, the few acres they can 
cultivate being inadequate for their support, while 
little or no labor can be had with white settlements 
more than forty miles away At Torres, the situation is 
this: about forty Indians are livmg here on a Rail Road 
section. The adjoming section was reserved for them: 
but all of it is alkah land, except about 40 acres, and 
upon this a white man has been living for the past eight 
years, havmg at an expense of more that a thousand 
dollars developed a little water to irrigate it. He cannot 
of course be dispossessed. Nor could the Indians live, if 
they were on it. So that, summing up the situation, the 
Indians here have nothing. While, for many years they 
have cultivated their little fields of com and wheat, 
at an immense cost of labor to bring water in it, theh 
ejectment is only a question of a very short time, as 
the hnprovements made by them, if nothing else, will 
tempt white men to secure it. 

Beyond Torres some eight mUes farther on the 
desert, is a settlement known as Martinez. These came 
to see me at Torres, and complained that white men 
were shooting their horses and otherwise troubling 
them. I found on inquiry, that they too, were on rail 
road land, and hence the trouble. Some ten miles 
farther on, is Cabezon, a settlement of Indians, who, 
I was mformed, were living on a sandhill, such bemg 
the character of theh land, most of them naked and 
all obliged to subsist upon [mesquite] beans which 
grow on the desert. Tbese latter settlements are on the 
extreme boundary beyond which the desert is unin­
habitable until you get to Yuma. 

On the 16th I began to retrace my steps, thor­
oughly impressed with the fact that while government 
has set apart for these Indian lands to a greater or less 
extent, they have nothing that is of any use to them. 
That whUe they are destitute of agricultural imple­
ments it would be next to useless to give them any till 
suitable lands are provided for them to cultivate. That 
all these desert Indians, living beyond the Portrero 
should be speedily removed from the places now 
occupied by them and consolidated with the Portrero 
Indians m San Gorgonio Pass. That the government 
to this end should extmguish the private claims to the 
section known as the Portrero and six or seven sec­
tions adjoming h, since there is abundance of water 
there, and enough arable and pasture land to subsist 
the Indians so consolidated. Their number will not 
aggregate 400. The land includes a body of about eight 
sections, and less than five thousand dollars will secure 
it. It would bring these Indian within reach of white 
settlers who would gladly give them employment at 
certain seasons and once for all settle the vexatious 
question relating to these desert Indians. Common 
humanity, if nothmg else, calls for the removal of these 
desert Indians from the places where they are hterally 

starving, while their consoUdation and settlement as 
above indicated, is the only feasible place worthy of 
consideration. 

This being my report and plan concerning this 
class of Indians, I will report a tour of inspection 
among the mountain Indians living south of the desert 
and suggest my plans respecting them. Deshing that 
the Department with a view to an intelligent under­
standing of the whole subject, should consider it in 
separate parts [Lawson n.d. a: 15-1879]. 

SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT: 

LAWSON TO HAYT, DEC. 27,1879 

As supplemental to the accompanying report marked 
"A" 1 would respectfully represent that, on the 4th of 
the present month, I set out on a tour of inspection 
among the mountain Indians, living mainly in the ter­
ritory embraced m San Diego County, with the same 
object in view, as in my visit to the desert Indians. 

The same day I came to a settlement known as 
the San Jacinto Indians, living now, for many years on a 
Ranch by that name. Land adjoining this has been re­
served. But it is all inaccessible mountain land, except 
about two acres: this little spot being utilized by one 
Indian family, while the rest are living on the aforesaid 
Ranch. The coming spring, however, this body of land 
is to be divided up between its respective owners, and 
the Indians requhed to remove. 

On the 5th, I came to Temecula [Pechanga]. Here, 
a remnant of seven families of those who were forcibly 
ejected from the valley a few years ago, live among the 
rocks in the foothills, with no land to cultivate. Theh 
substantial, but now unoccupied adobe houses, built 
with much toil, still dot the plains below. 

On the 6th I came to Pala. Here is a smaU settle­
ment of Indians of the San Luis Rey Tribe. The records 
show 240 acres reserved for them: but I learned some 
of this had been occupied by whites before the order 
setting it apart was promulgated. Here, as everywhere 
else, it is impossible to define the boundaries of the 
Indian land. The result is, some of the Indians are living 
on land claimed by whites and disputes and trouble 
reign supreme. A part of the land here, that is known 
to belong to the Indians, is embraced in a wide river­
bed of sand and gravel. By special request on my part, 
a few of the Indians living on private land at this place, 
have received permission to put in crops this year, on 
the httle patches they have long cultivated, with the 
understanding that, by another season, some provision 
be made for them. 

On the 7th I came to Rincon, a settlement of the 
same tribe, about 12 miles south of Pala. Here the 
situation is this. The Indians have occupied this place 
for many years. They have considerable good land 
under cultivation: but it was discovered recently, that 
the executive order of 1875, which was supposed to set 
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aside this land, places it in Tp. 10 south, Range 1 east, 
whereas these Rincon Indians are Uving just over the 
Une, hi Range 1 west. The result has been that white 
men, have filed on their land and they are hable to 
ejectment. To remove them east of the line, where the 
order places them, and which covers Yapiche and La 
JoUa cannot be done, since the land is next to worth­
less to those aheady on. So that the Indians at these 
three places, I may say, have nothing. I remained at the 
Rincon over the 8th and 9th by urgent request of the 
Indians, who were divided among themselves about 
the election of head man, or General, as they wished to 
get all the Indians of the San Luis Rey Tribe together, 
and deshed I should help settle theh trouble. I did so 
and succeeded in adjusting their differences to the 
complete satisfaction of all parties.^ 

...It would requhe too much time to tell of all 
the wrongs the San Luis Rey Indians have endured at 
the hands of white men during late years. Only as late 
as four years ago, these Indians had herds of sheep, 
and cattle, and horses, and they had money. But they 
were led into litigation through the bad counsel of the 
lawyers untU aU theh property and money was spent. 
The correspondence of Chief Olegario, now dead, 
reveals the fact that in the space of about two years, 
the Indians of the Rincon paid in legal fees to certain 
lawyers in San Diego nearly one thousand dollars. 
One instance was related to me by an inteUigent half-
breed, where they paid to a lawyer at San Luis Rey 
for the privilege of having been led into difficulty by 
him several hundred doUars, and as they had no more 
money, they turned over to him 31 steers to satisfy 
theh account. 

I have not the patience to relate the individual 
cases of hardship that came to my knowledge during 
my stay of two days. The record of wrongs inflicted 
upon these unfortunate Indians, if written in full, 
would mark the blackest page in our Indian history. 

On the 10th I came to San Pasqual. Until of late 
years, this vaUey was regarded as an Indian Pueblo, 
and the fhst settlers respected the Indians' claim to 
it. Now, however, they are being dispossessed. Driven 
from one portion of the vaUey, they have settied on 
another, year after year, in tum erecting theh adobe 
houses: but now it is announced that hi the coming 
spring they are to be removed from the enthe vaUey. 

On the 11th I came to Santa Ysabel. Here, and at 
the Mesa Grande near by, which I also visited, are per­
haps one hundred Indians. They have little land that is 
of any use, and that httle as is clauned, partly over the 
hne on some white-man's domain. No pasture for theh 
horses. And when they trespass on pasture that a white 
man wants, though it be public land—the white man 
either shoots the horses or corrals them, and forces 
the Indian to pay from $3 to $4 to have them released. 
That these inoffensive Indians should be peaceable 
and patient under such treatment is more than should 
expected, yet it is tme I could scarcely restram my own 

combativeness, as these wrongs were recited to me in 
the presence of some of those white men, so caUed. 

On the 12th I came to Agua Cahente [Wamer's 
Ranch]. The situation of the Indians here, is somewhat 
better than I expected to find it, in view of what I 
had found up to this time. They told me no white 
men had ever disturbed them so far: but that a party 
of surveyors had stalked over theh land a few days 
before, raising a suspicion in theh minds, that, they are 
not to be left undisturbed much longer. 

These Indians as mdeed all that I met so far, are 
steady, sober and industrious: but theh land is msuf-
ficient for their number, and, isolated as they are in 
those mountains, far away from white settlements, 
they can earn httle by labor off the reservation. They 
ask for no agricultural implements, nor seeds. Being 
supplied with both, for the limited lands they have. 

On the 13th I started for the Cahuilla Valley 
[Anza], the last Indian settlement not yet visited. On 
the way I visited a few families Uving in the mountains, 
known as Aguanga Indians. They had seen me at the 
Rincon and complained of wrongs endured. 

I found the principal case, substantially this: A 
father emd mother, two sons, two widowed daughters, 
having each two children are living on a piece of land 
containing about 40 acres, they have Uved on this land 
11 years. BuUt themselves a comfortable adobe house 
on it [and] have fenced it into little fields, cultivated it 
and planted fruit on it.They thought themselves secure, 
no doubt, in their little mountain home: but it was 
public land, and cin Indian has no rights, which a white 
man is bound to respect. A white man 3 mUes away, 
having a large Ranch, tempted by the improvements 
which eleven years of toil had wrought, has lately 
filed on it; and because this helpless fanuly would not 
instantly leave theh httle home, he, with club m hand a 
few days before I was there, ordered them to leave or 
he would kiU them. 

This Indian fanuly would wUlingly fUe a declara­
tion of citizenship if thereby they might retain theh 
home. And certainly if I had the power I would annul 
the purchase and sale, for I found them most worthy 
cuid excellent Indians. 

The Indians in the CahuiUa vaUey, under Manuel 
Largo, an inteUigent man, as theh chief number about 
75 all told. A tract of land 9 mUes by 3 m extent was 
reserved for them: but it is aU inaccessible mountaui 
rock and bmsh land, except about 240 acres. 

Here I found the most serious frouble I had yet 
met with, because of the pecuUar nature of the case, 
and the fact that these Indians are less peaceably 
disposed than any other of die Mission Indians. The 
case is this, when the reservation was set apart, and 
the Unes surveyed, as I was told, it left a good piece 
of land outside, as weU as about one half the hidian 
vUlages mcludmg die chiefs house, a very comfortable 
adobe house. A white man bought die land adjommg, 
took forcible possession of the chiefs house, and now 
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threatens to dispossess of their homes, all, whose 
houses are on his land. 

The Indians in tum, are resentmg this mjustice by 
tearing down his fences and corral, and it is doubtful if 
they can be restramed, smce they lay the whole blame 
upon the government for allowmg this man to come 
in among them when no other white man had ever 
disturbed them. Unless one or the other of the parties 
is removed, I would not be at aU surprised to hear they 
had kUled the white man. The httle land they have is 
wholly inadequate for theh wants and even what they 
have, is left uncultivated because of the confused and 
unsettied condition they are in. 

The purpose for which this tour was undertaken, 
being now accompUshed, I started on my return to the 
Agency on the 14th arriving on the 15th. The places 
herein mentioned may be said to embrace all the 
organized settlements of Mission Indians m San Diego 
County, except a few msignificant ones, that could only 
be reached by mountain trails. These do not however, 
embrace aU the Indians in the county. There are roving 
bands who stop to work, or loaf, as the case may be, 
awhile at one place, then at another. Just now the San 
Diego papers are discussing the question whether the 
Indians who are coming into their town at present, 
as they think to winter there, are to be tolerated or 
driven out as "nuisances" The number roving about in 
idleness, is not by any means very large—not near so 
large as might be expected, considermg the unsettled, 
and unsatisfactory condition of things at all their 
settlements The great wonder to me is that aU are not 
roving framps. 

From a thorough acquaintance with the situation 
of these mountain Indians, these are my impressions. 
That they should aU be taken from the places where 
they now are. That they should be consolidated on 
one reservation with sufficient land for pasture and 
agricultural purposes. That so situated, under judicious 
management, with schools for the education of theh 
children, they would soon become a thriving and 
industrious community. 

And further, from my knowledge of San Diego 
County, its mountainous character, the insufficient 
water supply that is afforded on any of its large 
Ranches, the frequency of frosts inland from the 
coast, which makes it difficuU often to raise com and 
other vegetables in their season, the sparseness of 
white settiers as a source of employment to Indians, 
and the almost inaccessibility of the country I am 
convmced that these Indians should be removed from 
that county and settied in San Bernardino Valley 
and county: where a sufficient body of land can be 
purchased with sufficient water for hrigation; where 
pasture land may be found adjacent, and government 
land may be found adjacent, and government land 
not yet disposed of, which will produce wheat and 
barley without irrigation; where the climate is such 
that vegetation is never injured by frost; where the 

Indians would be able to find remuneration labor 
in adjacent white settlements when not otherwise 
employed; where they would have easy and quick 
access to a market for the disposal of surplus products; 
where they would be accessible by Rail Road; and 
where they and the "desert Indians," provided the 
place suggested conceming them were carried out, 
could be under the supervision of the same agent— 
the distance between them, not exceeding twenty 
niiles.The Indians so consolidated at these two points, 
embracing aU the so-caUed Mission Indians, would not 
exceed 2500, though they are reported to number 4400. 
The setUement of this vexed question is not so difficult. 
It will not require an enormous outlay on the part of 
the Government. 

The foregoing plan, I have submitted to the 
judgment of men, who understand the situation and 
the needs of these Indians, and they aU concur m the 
opmion that it is eminently feasible and practical. I 
therefore, most respectfully submit it to the Dept. 
along with my Report, beUe vmg that the facts as hereui 
set forth conceming these Indians, fuUy justify—if not 
the adoption of my plans, yet of some plans for the 
permanent reUef of the Mission Indians of Southem 
CaUfomia [Lawson n.d.a:19-1879]. 

THE LEGAL THEFT OF INDIAN LANDS 

IN SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA 

Lawson's first impressions, though certainly superficial in 

many ways, nonetheless zeroed in on the key problems 

confrontmg Southem Califomia Indians and anticipated 

some of the key recommendations of the Jackson-Kinney 

Report. Fhst, the executive-order reservations of 1875 -1876 

were terribly flawed and provided httle security for Southem 

Califomia Indians. President Grant had set aside very large 

tracts in the public domain, thousands of acres for very 

smaU bands of 1(X)-2(X) people in some cases, hi order to 

embrace the "few smaU arable spots of land occupied by 

the Indians"—theh resource use areas, residences, and 

hnprovements (Figure 2). On these lands, the best arable 

and weU-watered portions were occupied and improved to 

a lesser or greater extent by white homesteaders (at Torres 

and Pala, for example), who may or may not have filed 

homestead patents before the lands were set aside. 

Second, imprecision and outr ight mis takes had 

inadvertently left the rancherias—in whole or in part— 

outside the boundaries of several of the reservations, 

meaning historical use areas were technically on the 

pubhc domain and ehgible for homestead entry. This led 

to problems at the Caphan Grande and CahuUIa reserves. 
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Figure 2. Pauma Indian Mission church, from the road. Almost all Mission Indian rancherias had Catholic chapels, 
many of adobe, where Father Antonio Ubach and other priests periodically held mass in circuits through 

Southem California's Indian communities. (Pierce Collection, Huntington Library) 

among others. Errors abounded. The executive order 
setthig aside land for the historic San Pasqual community 
set aside land in the wrong township. Thus, there were 
conflicting claims over tide that caused friction between 
Indians and homesteaders that threatened to empt mto 
violence if the hithnidated Indians did not leave wUlingly 
Lawson was continuaUy tryhig to adjudicate such disputes 
over conflicting rights. 

Third, the many Indians who lived off the 
reservations on pubhc domain lands they had laboriously 
improved for years were in a very precarious position. 
Lands in the public domain improved by Indian 
families and communities were subject to filings by 
white homesteaders. Because Indians were not U.S. 
citizens, they could not file for homesteads on these 

lands. (A homestead law for Indians was passed hi 1875 
that allowed filings, but under restricted conditions: 
namely, the individuals involved would have to break 
their tribal ties.) The homestead law for non-Indians 
stated that fUings could only be made on pubhc domain 
lands that had neither hnprovements, nor occupants, but 
this requnement was commonly violated. Special Agent 
John G. Ames observed in his 1873 report that "the 
location of an Indian family or famihes on land upon 
which a white man desnes to settle is, m law, no more a 
bar to such settlement than would be the presence of a 
stray sheep or cow" (Ames 1979:65-6).^ Lawson urged 
the Indian Office to take hnmediate action to reserve the 
few 'green spots' historicaUy occupied by Indians in the 
Southem Califomia ulterior ranges and deserts. 
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Correctmg errors m the executive orders to mclude 
aU of the rancheria sites seemed to be a shnple matter, 
but Commissioner Hayt refused to make additional 
withdrawals from the pubhc domam via executive order, 
behevmg Southem Cahfornia Indians had enough land. 
What Hayt did not understand, and what Lawson labored 
to hnpress upon hhn, was that most of this reservation 
acreage lacked water and so was completely worthless 
for farming and could not support even a fraction of 
the Indian population. One hundred thousand acres for 
the support of 3,010 Southem Cahfornia Indians would 
have been adequate if it had been of the right kind, but 
as much of the country was mountam and desert, "it was 
practicaUy worthless for the support of so great a number 
of Indians" Lawson wrote in his Annual Report of 1881 
(Lawson 1882:13). 

Fourth, a host of iUs flowed from the lack of precise 
boundary surveys, hnperiling the security of Mission bands. 
Lawson made this point repeatedly in his correspondence. 
Whole townships or parts of townships, Lawson wrote, 
"have been reserved for these Indians," but they "could 
not be located with certainty by reason of the fact that 
boundary lines by sections could not be distinguished" 
(Lawson n.d.a:613-1878, Aug. 28,1878). "[Jjust what is 
Indian land and what not, is difficult to determine," wrote 
Lawson m 1880 (Lawson n.d.a:742-1880. May 14,1880). 

Even those Indian communities with cultivable land 
and sufficient water that were clearly within executive 
order boundaries were vulnerable. New homesteaders 
persisted in encroaching on Indian resources and homes. 
Without authorization from the Indian Office to elicit 
expensive surveys m coordmation with the General Land 
Office, Lawson's hands were tied. He could not protect 
even those communities with viable clahns and ostensible 
federal trust protection. Regarding his helplessness to 
defend one group from incursions on their cultivated 
lands by mtmders, Lawson wrote to Helen Hunt Jackson 
m the spring of 1883 of the "Catch-22" situation facmg the 
Mission Indian Agency that worked agamst the Indians: 
"This is one of the many cases where information is 
requhed and where the absence of authority and means 
to make a survey make it next to hnpossible to furnish 
the same" (Lawson n.d.b: May 18,1883). 

Finally, Southern California Indians were being 
cheated out of theh historic rights of occupancy through 
"floatmg surveys." Most of tiie Indian vUIage sites occupied 

for miUennia had been mcorporated into Mexican rancho 
grants; under Mexican law, the Indians' rights to occupancy 
were recognized as perpetual.Those communities located on 
private grants faced eviction, because American law did not 
respect Indian rights on private lands. Survival of many of the 
larger Indian communities (for example, at Wamer's Ranch 
and Santa Ysabel) from the 1830s to the 1880s depended on 
working for the rancho owners as vaqueros, sheep-shearers, 
and house servants. Entrenched m a symbiotic relationship 
with rancho owners, many rancherias nonetheless 
mamtained theh pohtical independence and cohesion. In 
some cases Indian homesites, fields, and pasture lands were 
adjacent to, but outside, rancho land-grant boundaries on 
the pubhc domahi. Executive order reservations had been 
estabhshed for Santa Ysabel, San Jacmto, and Agua (Cahente 
(Wamer's) from these pubhc domain lands where rancherias 
were located. In the 1870s and 1880s, rancho owners had 
surveys done which aUegedly proved these Indian-occupied 
areas were within rancho grant boundaries, subjecting 
the Indians to eviction. Large landowners and modest 
homesteaders both funded surveys that pushed or "floated" 
the hues over mto property historicaUy acknowledged as 
Indian held. Lawson commented on this phenomenon at 
San Jacmto in Febmary, 1879: 

Today an Indian messenger came to me saying, theh 
ejectment was being talked of freely and bringing a 
letter addressed to me by an old white settler, who 
says he assisted in running the Unes of the said ranch 
as early as 1842 and again at a more recent date, and 
that each time the Indian viUage was left outside the 
lines of the ranch.The original plat of the ranch he says 
"was destroyed by Henry Hancock to get the ranch 
floated over the tin mines etc." The man Hancock I 
know by reputation, to be notorious as a scheming 
land grabber in the employ of certain unknown parties 
who manipulate him for this purpose: and the story of 
the old settler, with my knowledge of the intrigues 
connected with land matters in this state, looks very 
plausible [Lawson n.d.a:177-1879,Feb. 14,1879]. 

At Santa Ysabel and Warner's, Lawson reported, 
the executive order reservations had been "floated over" 
by the Mexican land grants. These reservations were 
radicaUy gutted by the executive orders of January 17,1880 
(Kappler 1971:822). 

Rancho owners, railroad lawyers, and homesteaders 
all demanded the removal of Indians living on "their 
lands" as soon as possible and looked to the Indian Office 
and the new agent to accomphsh this objective. 
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THE BILL FOR RELIEF 
OF THE MISSION INDIANS, 1878-1882 

This Gordian knot of problems, Lawson beheved, could be 
resolved by creatmg one large reservation and removmg 
aU Southem Califomia Indians to it. This was Lawson's 
"panacea." He persistently and passionately put the 
matter before the Indian Office from 1878 to 1880, and 
intermittently thereafter. He also took it upon himseU to 
lobby congressmen on the House Committee on Indian 
Affairs who were drafting the legislation. He wrote an 
article in the San Bemardino Times on "How Cahfornia's 
Indians are Treated," which was reprinted in the Los 

Angeles Star on January 26,1879. To speed congressional 
action, which he was sure was imminent, Lawson tried 
to hnpress upon the Indian Oflice the desperate state of 
the besieged Indians, and pointed out that the mcreased 
Indian homelessness and vagrancy were a source of 
alarm to the general pubhc. 

A crisis was buUding, he emphasized, with manifold 
dangers. Not only were formerly law-abiding and self-
supporting Indians suffering social degradation and 
starvation, those displaced or under the threat of eviction 
were angry and desperate. There was the specter of Indian 
vagabonds roaming the landscape looking for sustenance, 
committing crimes, and violently confronting those who 
had displaced them, thus requiring governmental action 
(Dale: 1949:85):^ 

Under existing chcumstances, many of these Indians 
are wandering about to the serious annoyance of 
citizens. The people are tired of this looseness in theh 
management. They express their gratification at the 
appointment of an agent and the wish is universal that 
the Government may do something that shall result 
in permanent Govt, to them. .. .The past history of 
these Indians, their peaceful behavior under trying 
chcumstances, theh efforts to maintain themselves by 
labor, has won for them universal respect, and almost 
without exception, the people of this section chafe 
under the thought that, they should be dispossessed of 
theh Uttle lands eind driven to the altemative of either 
wander about to beg a scanty Uving or die of starvation 
[Lawson n.d.a:613-1878, Aug. 28,1878]. 

In late 1878 he sent the foUowing statement to a 

California congressman, which was forwarded to 

Secretary of the Interior Carl Schurz: 

.. .1 am persuaded, matters have reached a crisis with 
these Indians, that wiU compel government to provide 
suitable lands, and to sufficient quantity upon which 

they can subsist. .. .They have been deprived by the 
settlers of aUnost every acre that is worth the having. 
And driven as many of them now are, to wander about 
over these counties. The question is already being 
discussed, notably in San Diego papers, whether they 
had not better be driven out of the communities they 
infest. But where wiU they go? 

.. .1 am sure, from my own observations, and from 
the general sentiment expressed by the people in this 
section of the state that something must be done in 
the way of purchasmg one or more large reservations 
upon which these Indians can be placed and on which 
they can maintain themselves. And there should be 
no delay in introducing a measure looking to this end 
during the present Congress. A joint resolution of the 
General Assembly of this state passed last winter and 
was forwarded to Washington urging that such provi­
sion be made for them. This has been supplemented 
with petitions from hundreds of citizens from San Ber­
nardino and San Diego Counties since that time. It but 
remains for California] Representatives to press the 
matter to the speedy attention of Congress. It would 
not be difficult to predict the result of the present diffi-
cuhies, which exist between the Indians and whites on 
account of the conflict of mterest, if the causes of the 
troubles existing are not soon removed [Lawson n.d.a: 
W29-1879,Dec.31,1878]. 

Lawson formed the strong conviction that peaceably-
disposed Indians received no attention from the 
government. CynicaUy, he commented to Representative 
H. F Page on the House Committee on Indian Affairs 
that the government only took action to redress Indian 
grievances when threatened by violence. In his 1882 
Annual Report, Lawson wrote that "it is doubtful whether 
Congress wiU ever take action," because "distinguished 
consideration is shown to the Indian only in proportion 
as he had developed a disposition to be troublesome and 
worthless" (Lawson 1883). To prompt action, therefore, 
he emphasized to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs 
that the Mission Indians would become violent if action 
was not taken soon (Lawson n.d.a:251-1879, March 7, 
1879). He also underlined how homelessness was 
leading to crime and moral degradation in his letter to 
Commissioner Hayt in April, 1879 regarding the pending 
evictions from San Pasqual, San Jacinto, and Wamer's: 

In theh present destitution, the steaUng of cattle and 
sheep for their subsistence is carried on to such an 
extent that every man's hand is agamst the poor helpless 
Indian. And what it vriU be when driven wholly from 
theh present locaUties may be better hnagined than 
described. Meanwhile prostitution with its attendant 
diseases: drunkenness, m addition to every form of 



ARTICLE I The Mixed Legacy of Mission Indian Agent S.S. Lawson, 1878-1883 | Thome 1 5 7 

imposition practiced upon their ignorance or their 
creduUty—may be said to complete the picture of theh 
situation. Consolidated upon a suitable reservation, 
under the dhection of an agent these things would be 
remedied. If prompt action were taken, a reservation 
can now be secured at a reasonable price. Without 
purchasing land, none is to be had as there is not 
an acre of land otherwise available in all southern 
CaUfomia [Lawson n.d.a:422-1879, April 22,1879]. 

IronicaUy, the large ranchers were caUhig upon the 
federal government to compensate them for Indian 
depredations to theh property. Captahi WUcox, owner of 
Santa Ysabel ranch, claimed to have sustained $20,000 m 
damages. Such depredations, Lawson estimated, might 
exceed the $40,000 for purchasing an Indian reservation 
in Southem Califomia. Taxpayers would save money if 
action was taken immediately to resolve the Indian land 
disputes in Southem Cahfornia. 

In early 1879, Lawson proposed purchasing a piece 
of land five mUes from Portrero, avaUable at the price of 
$40,000, which was fed by 300 mches of water by the San 
Gorgonio Flume Company, and which had an adjacent 
stock range and an unlimited supply of timber for buUding 
and other purposes. AU the desert and mountain Indians 
might be consohdated here. "[N]o better advantages for 
an Indian Reservation can be found in the state," he said, 
adding: "This opportunity should not be left to shp by 
for there is nothing offered hi southem Cahfornia that 
compares with this" (Lawson n.d.a:66-1879, Jan. 8,1879). 

When the House Committee on Indian Affairs 
recommended passage of the 1878 biU providing that a 
fract of land be pinchased for Indian people for the sum of 
$50,000, news of a pendmg land purchase spread quickly via 
(Cahfornia newspapers. Various offers came into the Indian 
Office from ranchers wUling to seU in early 1879 (Ubach n.d; 
Cliaffee and McKeeby n.d.; Mathes 1996:43). Impatiently 
waiting for (ingress to pass the rehef bUl, Lawson expressed 
mcreasmg anxiety "that the wrongs, privation and sufferings 
of these Indians are to be indefiiutely prolonged" (Lawson 
n.d.a:128-1879, Jan. 24,1879; 370-1879, March 8,1879). 
When no action was taken by April, 1879, Lawson wrote 
a dark, angry letter to Cbmmissioner Hayt: "[T]he apathy 
that prevaUs on the part of the Government toward these 
Indians is hard to understand" (Lawson n.d.a:422-1879, 
April 22,1879). Thereafter, Lawson repeatedly offered 
to go to Washhigton personaUy to lay the case before the 
Indian Department and (ingress. 

MISSION INDIAN AGENCY 

Helen Hunt Jackson would later create a stereotype of 
the Mission Indians as passive and victhnized Christian 
sheep, m order to hicrease pubhc sympathy and induce 
congressional action, but Mission Indians were active 
agents m theh own behalf. Mission Indians were well-
organized pohticaUy, with captains at the viUage level and 
regional leaders caUed generals. PeriodicaUy pan-rancheria 
councUs were held to discuss matters of common concern 
and to decide on actions to be executed by the captains or 
the generals. (Lawson had been trying to break down the 
power of the generals as h competed with his own.) Mission 
Indians' activities in defense of their land rights were 
varied, creative, and persistent. Blmdness toward these 
manifold activities is due to a faUure to read Jackson and 
Lawson's correspondence—laced with patemahsm, self-
aggrandizement, and sfrategies for inspiring pubhc anger— 
more criticaUy; they themselves may have wished to be 
seen as heroic redeemers of defenseless Indian people. 

Indian agency took many forms. Refusing to budge 
from lands claimed by non-Indians was one form of 
resistance. For example, Luiseno Indians monopohzed 
the land at Rancho Cuca (Lawson, n.d.a:348-1879, 
AprU 5,1879; Chalmers Scott n.d.). Others at CahuiUa 
and Santa Ysabel took more violent action to protest 
incursions into their long-recognized resources and 
homes. (HistoricaUy, the Wamer's Ranch Indians suffered 
the claims of J. J. Warner with great skepticism, and the 
ranch owner lived peacefuUy with them, until he sold 
out in 1861, only by accepting a precarious symbiosis— 
see HUl 1927:135). 

No doubt more frequent and overt conflict was 
quelled between 1878 and 1881 because of Lawson's 
many assurances that solutions were immediately 
forthcoming. Lawson was able to convince rancho 
owners and homesteaders who claimed lands occupied 
by Indians to postpone evictions untU Congress provided 
for lands to which to remove the Indians. Simultaneously, 
Lawson was placatmg the Mission Indians. Though they 
had endured many wrongs, they fortified themselves to 
stand firm and be patient and tolerant a while longer. 
Jackson considered this forbearance, but it was misread 
as passivity or helplessness. In his lobbying efforts, 
Lawson may weU have been exaggeratmg the extent of 
vagrancy, disease, dmnkenness, and poverty, on the one 
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hand, and the pubhc wiU to address the problem, on the 

other. But he was right when he noted that his promises 

of rehef averted violence: "This hope has been held out 

as a promise to the Indians to allay discontent and in 

some instances to prevent disturbances that threatened, 

so certain were the indications that provision would be 

made for them" (Lawson n.d.a:251-1879, March 7,1879). 

A major form of action for Indians involved legal 

due process. For each community the situation was 

different, but most had some legal as weU as moral basis 

for an argument that their land clahns superceded those 

of the people trying to eject them. The Capitan Grande 

people had been granted their lands by an American 

mihtary officer hi 1853, for example. Others could argue 

that homesteaders had arrived after executive orders 

withdrew theh lands from pubhc entry or that land rights 

were protected under Mexican grants. For whatever vahd 

reasons they had for protest, captains would travel to 

San Diego or Los Angeles to contact lawyers, mobilizing 

the community's wealth in defense of their land rights. 

Though they had suffered from epidemics and shrinking 

populations, many Southem Califomia Indians adapted 

collectively and individually; they had orchards or 

vineyards or cattle, and also wages as laborers to pool 

for legal defense. The Portrero Indians of San Gorgonio 

sought a lawyer to protect their holdings from filings 

under the Desert Land Act of 1877 (Colbum 1878:36). 

Lawson believed lawyers hired by the Indians were 

overcharging them after falsely encouraging them in 

hopes of success. He was infuriated when he heard of 

the Luisefios being charged $2,0(M) in fees and 31 head 

of cattle by a lawyer in an effort to retain Rancho Cuca: 

"Between thieving white men who would defraud them 

of their rights, and avaricious lawyers who have robbed 

them of their money, they have been ground between 

the upper and nether mUl stones," adding that "it is a 

repetition of the state of things everywhere I have been 

among them" (Lawson n.d.a:863-1878, Dec. 17, 1878). 

(The San Jacinto and Warner's Ranch Indians both 

fought m court for theh rights under Mexican grants late 

in the nineteenth century.) 

Those who suffered wrongs reached out for help to 

Agent Lawson, Cathohc priests, neighbors, and any other 

sympathetic persons wUlmg to write letters for them to 

Washington. In December, 1878, the captains from the 

Luiseno vUlages sent a petition to Bishop Francis Mora, 

requesthig theh lands and saying, "UntU now no material 
aid have we asked nor received from the government; now 
we only ask land, and to be protected in the possession 
thereof, in order to farm them, and thus support our 
famihes with our industry and labor" (Mora n.d). 

These Luiseno captains did not share Lawson's vision 
of being consolidated with the CahuUlas (with whom 
they had had some rather impleasant encoimters). They 
sent another petition via Mora to Washington, dated 
March 12,1879: 

Whereas we find ourselves in a critical situation in 
this southem part of the state of CaUfomia, frequently 
molested by settlers. And whereas efforts have been 
made, and proposed to remove us from the lands 
where our ancestors have resided for generations, and 
where, at the present time, we honestly and peaceably 
Uve, by our manual labor, and honest industry, without 
bemg in any way a burden to the government. And 
whereas it has been proposed to locate us at a place 
distant from our homes m the vicinity of San Gorgonio. 
a sterile coimtry weU known to us to be unfit for our 
occupation and mcapable of affordmg us a means of 
subsisting without aid from government as has been 
our custom heretofore. 

Therefore we the undersigned Indians of the 
Mission of San Luis Rey [and Temecula, Aguanga, 
San Jacinto, Puerta Cruz, Puerto del Valle de San 
Jose, San Luis Rey, La JoUa, Pauma, Pala, Potrero, 
Rincon and Yapiche] respectfuUy petition and request 
of the proper authorities to provide that we may be 
permitted to continue residing in the places above 
mentioned, and in the free and peaceful possession of 
our homes, without further molestation from the white 
settlers ui our neighborhoods [Captains n.d]. 

The Luiseno captams further asked that if theh lands 

currently occupied within the limits of private grants 

could not be secured, that lands be set aside for them by 

executive order in the upper part of the San Luis Rey 

VaUey, above the Pala asistencia (or sateUite of Mission 

San Luis Rey), to supplement the lands already set apart 

for Luiseiios hi that vicmity. This, the captains said, was 

"generally mountainous land, undesirable for white 

settlers, but naturaUy adapted to our wants." There they 

could contmue to be self-supportmg. Theh final request 

was for "the proper authorities [to] cause a survey to 

be made of the exterior boundaries thereof distinctly 

defined" (Captams n.d.). 

Lawson countered this request in his cover letter 

transmitting the Luiseno petition, commenting that 

"neariy aU of the lands they now occupy are owned by 
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Figure 3. Chapel of Santa Ysabel, 1878. The adobe structure was destroyed in an earthquake shortly after this photo was taken. 
Like Pala for the Luiseiio, Santa Ysabel was an asistencia or sateUite mission for the Dieguefio. A small experimental farm and 

Indian school and church were here, and mission stock were pastured in the valley. (Pierce Collection, Huntington Library) 

private parties by whose grace they have been permitted 
to remam thus far. What they ask m this petition as to the 
locahty where they wish lands to be purchased for them, 
it would be unwise to grant" (Lawson n.d.a:317-1879, 
March 26, 1879). Doggedly endorsing San Gorgonio 
Pass as the best and only site for a reservation, Lawson 
also lampooned the initiative to purchase the Santa 
Ysabel Ranch for $50,000. He cautioned the Indian 
Department to refuse summarily all propositions "for 
the sale of San Diego ranches" (Lawson n.d.a:155-1879, 
Feb. 8,1879). To Lawson's chagrin. Congressman Page on 
the House Committee on Indian Affahs, who was one of 
the strongest advocates for the rehef bUl, supported the 
purchase of Santa Ysabel ranch (Figure 3). Santa Ysabel 
was a major asistencia of the San Diego Mission (Figure 4), 

and a large portion of the Indian population of San Diego 
probably hved there at one time or another (171 were 
there m 1880); presumably, many would have been happy 
to secure this large ranch as a colonization zone. Both 
Lawson and Father Ubach opposed the purchase of 
Santa Ysabel for practical reasons. Lawson did his utmost 
to defeat the plan, writing to Commissioner Hayt in 
January, 1880 that the rancho was "unfit for the purpose 
as it is situated in the mountains where frost prevents 
the planting of anything, before the month of June.... 
By aU means prevent the consummation of the scheme'' 

(Lawson n.d.a:171-1880, Jan. 24,1880). In the weeks that 
foUowed, Lawson pubhcly engaged m a debate in the San 

Diego Union regardmg the question of whether the San 
Gorgonio Pass or Santa Ysabel land was the better choice 
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Figure 4. Mission Santa Ysabel, showing cross, bells and brush hut. This image graphically illustrates 
the deconstruction of the rancheria communities' infrastructure; Catholic services persisted and the 
Santa Ysabel people tenaciously held to their land nonetheless. The bells were subsequently stolen, 

a symbol of the thefr that went on for decades. (Pierce Collection, Huntington Library) 

for the one Indian reservation in Southem Califomia to 

be purchased with federal funds.^° Lawson registered his 

disapproval of the Santa Ysabel Rancho purchase when 

it was introduced again by Congressman Page in January 

1882 (Lawson n.d.a:1464-1882, Jan. 16,1882). Opposmg 

Indian preferences, Lawson discouraged Congress 

from purchasing lands for Luisenos and Dieguenos in 

these instances. 

Lawson, however, was deeply impressed by the 

argument advanced by the Luiseno captains and other 

Mission Indians that they asked only for land enough to 

be self-sufficient and woiUd thereafter requhe no funds 

from the federal government. Beginning in late 1878, 

Lawson began making a tactical shift away from the 

argument that violence was pending to one that Indians 

would need no further support. Helen Hunt Jackson used 

this argument effectively, stressing the peaceful, lawful, 

industrious, and deserving nature of the self-sufficient 

Mission Indians, and it was ultimately persuasive. The 

Southern California Indians' role in promoting this 

argument is a profound, yet underappreciated, example of 

Indian agency. In late 1878, Lawson wrote to a Cahfornia 
congressman: "They ask nothing in the way of supphes 
from government, but are willing to subsist themselves as 
they always have—aU they want is that they be provided 
with land" (Lawson n.d.a:W29-1879, Dec. 31,1878). In 
late March, 1879, Lawson wrote to Senator U. Booth, 
repeating many of the same points: 

[T]hey are m the most wretched condition imaginable. 
The heart sickens at the story of thek sufferings and 
privations. And soon many of the most prominent 
bands, for many years occupymg private lands, are to 
be ejected from them by the owners.... And now, a 
crisis has been reached in theh case where something 
must be done or serious frouble wUl result. There is 
not an acre of Government land upon which they can 
be subsisted. And what to do vrith several thousand 
Indians turned loose without the means of a Uvelihood 
is a question that I as Agent am soon to confront. 
The Indian Bureau is fully advised of the shuation 
and I beUeve is doing all it can to provide reUef for 
them. The Indians ask not a dollar for supplies: but 
wish to subsist themselves as they always have done 
What they ask is, that the Government give them a 
reservation upon which they may all be consolidated 
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and be able to maintain themselves [itaUcs added]. No 
Indians under the care of Govt, are more deserving of 
this favor though none have been so much neglected. 
.. .Next m unportance to the Chinese question is the 
question of the settlement of these Indians on some 
permanent reservation which wUl reUeve the people of 
a great burden entailed upon them by theh wandering 
and destitute condition [Lawson n.d.a:370-1879. 
Mar. 8,1879]. 

In March, 1880, Lawson reached the nadir of his 
popularity as Mission Indian Agent. A petition was 
circulating among the Luisefio Indians to remove him 
as Indian agent (^San Diego Union, March 17,1880). Six 
hundred people signed the petition. Lawson's stubbom 
opposition to the purchase of the Santa Ysabel Ranch (or 
other prospective properties) angered both the Diegueiios 
and those whites who hoped to benefit financiaUy from 
the influx of federal funds. Lawson's outspoken criticisms 
of "thieving white men" chaffed many others. He was 
criticized for making no tours of the reservation after 
his brief junket of less than three week's duration m late 
1878. He had not brought harmony out of the cacophony 
of conflicting interests, though this was not really his 
fault. Short of congressional action for surveys and land 
purchases, things remained at an hnpasse. An editorial m 
the Union on March 26,1880 criticized Lawson, saying 
that he "is an importation from Ohio, who never saw a 
hve Indian tiU he reached his Agency,' utterly ignorant of 
the Spanish language, and altogether the most thoroughly 
incompetent of the many incompetent men sent to 
Cahfornia from the East to mismanage Indian affahs." 
An editorial a few days later added: "Well meaning he 
may be but in action he is most lamentably incapable" 
{San Diego Union, March 27,1880). Lawson later wrote 
to Helen Himt Jackson of the effort to remove him from 
office, saying, "I have faced petitions with six hundred 
signers for my removal, perjured affidavits forwarded 
to me by the Indian office, letters setthig forth unheard 
of rascahty." Though accused of several crimes, he was 
nonetheless vindicated of these charges, and he was 
reappointed as agent (Lawson n.d.b: June 7,1883).̂ ^ 

LAWSON'S AGENCY 

Whatever his faults and shortcomings, Lawson was a 

consistent advocate for the Mission Indians, for he took his 

position of authority and responsibihty very seriously. Very 

often Indians would travel to see him m San Bemardmo 

to teU of violations of theh rights. In his correspondence 
with the Indian Office, he reported on hidividual cases 
of injustices, for which he took corrective action within 
the scope of his authority, and sought redress from the 
Indian Office for actions outside the scope of his authority. 
In the Lawson correspondence is evidence of some of 
the conditions confrontmg Southem Califomia Indians, 
including labor exploitation and the theft of resources 
from executive order reservations. Lawson made the 
reasonable request that if evictions could not be averted, 
Indians should be reimbursed for the hnprovements on 
lands they had lost: "h seemed but an act of justice, that the 
parties who wiU derive the benefit of such hnprovements 
after their ejectment, should be required to reimburse 
them. Untold hardship and dissatisfaction wiU be wrought, 
if they are to lose aU theh labor as weU as theh homes," 
he wrote (Lawson n.d.a:382-1880, March 4,1880). Lawson 
exposed and condemned cases of "floating lines" at San 
Jacinto and Warner's Ranch, and tried to secure these 
stolen lands by appealing to the Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs for redress "from ejectment from theh homes and 
httle lands" (Lawson n.d.a:177-1879, Feb. 14,1879). He did 
his utmost to postpone ejections from private grants as 
long as possible. 

After the effort to remove him from office in the 
spring of 1880 faded, however, Lawson's evangehcal zeal 
became muted. He seems to have accepted the fact that 
his plan for one reservation was becoming a long shot, 
rather than something he could make happen. If not 
cynical, Lawson had become far more realistic and 
pragmatic about how best to use his energies, preferring to 
concentrate on the detaUs of school constmction and the 
prosecution of hquor traffickers, rather than on the more 
controversial and intractable question of land. StiU, he 
persistently caUed for action to deal with the land. In late 
1881 Lawson expressed his fmstration that "so far nothing 
definite has resulted from the agitation" he had made 
"except perhaps, to make more clear, the actual condition 
and needs of these Indians." Something should be done 
by Congress, he said, "toward a permanent settiement of 
the Mission Indians on lands they may caU theh own." 
He once agahi expressed his hope that legislation would 
be passed at the upcoming session of Congress: 

With all, the situation is far from satisfactory. Trouble 
exists everywhere, growing out of theh occupation of 
lands, not their own. And, three or four of the large 
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settlements are liable, any day, to be ejected from 
the homes and lands occupied by them for several 
generations It has requhed tact to manage these land 
proprietors, so as, to defer as long as possible, the "evU 
day" of ejectment. But it must occur to the Honorable 
Commissioner that such a state of things is little 
calculated, either to promote those stable habits of 
industry, or, encourage enterprises for theh civUization, 
which, otherwise, would be possible. Unfortunately 
too, in my efforts to adjust the varied and compUcated 
difficuhies arising from conflicting interests between 
Indians and whites, I have not always been able to 
command the attention of the Department to questions 
referred for advice or instruction: and, it may be a 
question, whether, under the chcumstances, and, at this 
distance, it is possible to understand the tme situation, 
so as, to judge correctly or advise inteUigently [Lawson 
n.d.a:198-1882,Dec. 28,1881]. 

Lawson lamented the dispossession of the large 
communities of Indians on private land grants, but he 
agreed with the consensual view among non-Indians 
in Southem California that the law was on the owners' 
side, and Indian claims to these lands were "imaginary." 
Lawson's acceptance of the inevitabUity of the ejection 
of these groups from San Pasqual, Wamer's, and Santa 
Ysabel is reasonable under the circumstances (Lawson 
n.d.a:348-1879, April 5,1879). 

Lawson's record as U.S. Indian Agent after 1880 is 
redeemed by an hicreasing pragmatism and willingness to 
hear what Indians were telling him about theh needs and 
preferences. He continued to put forward his "Portrero 
plan" to anyone who would listen, but he became a 
stronger advocate for defending and expanding the 
scattered executive order reservations, and even creatmg 
new ones on the public domain for the Pechanga and 
CahuUIa Indians. His persistence is notable, shice he got 
so httie support from the Indian Office. His courageous 
and firm opposition to the Indian Homestead pohcy is 
perhaps most impressive. 

DEPARTMENT VACILLATION 

AND THE INDIAN HOMESTEAD POLICY 

In mid-1880, in preference to a number of smaU, dispersed 

reservations or one large reservation in Southern 

Califomia, the Indian Office decided that a homestead 

policy be instituted. Lawson was instructed to furnish 

the Indian Department with legal descriptions of Indian-

occupied lands in the pubhc domahi to be set aside for the 

Indian occupants. Lawson clearly understood that to be 
the Indian Office's mtent. The new pohcy was to "give the 
Indian the land m severalty, not exceedhig 160 acres and 
not to create smaU and isolated reservations." Lawson said 
the homestead act "is objectionable to these Indians": 

While they have adopted the habhs and pursuits of 
civilized hfe in every other particular they are not 
ready to adopt that of citizenship in isolated cases. 
If any considerable number of a tribe were offered 
this privilege with 160 acres it would be different: 
but to shigle out one Indian, as in the case submitted, 
who was driven by necessity from the too limited 
reservation, upon an adjoining 160-acre tract, to sever 
his tribal relations and become a citizen is to mvite 
the jealousy, if not the scorn of his tribe [Lawson 
n.d.a:12362-1881, July 12,1881; Lawson 1881]. 

The case at hand was at Capitan Grande, where the 
historic viUage center—where the captain's adobe home, 
the Cathohc graveyard, and the chapel were located—was 
"mistakenly" left out of the reservation when it was created 
in 1875. Desperate to preserve this land, the Capitan 
Grande captain as instructed had the land surveyed 
at his own expense. Lawson said this was not a proper 
solution and provided detaUed maps of Capitan Grande 
with colored hues to make the errors transparent, and 
demonstrate where the origmal errors had left out this key 
she. Without equivocation, Lawson wrote: "I respectfiUly 
recommend that the lands enclosed by the red hne be set 
apart by Executive order as a reservation for these Indians, 
m addition to that already reserved—numbering as wiU be 
seen eight (8) sections. This wiU stop further encroachments 
mto this canyon by white men and wUl rid the settlement 
of the man who has lately gone in." Lawson persisted 
in demanding this correction on behalf of the Capitan 
Grande Indians (Lawson n.d.a:3255-1882, July 12,1881). 
In the mid-1880s the correction was made. 

A second notable victory for the Indians and for 
Lawson as their advocate, made feasible by a change in 
administration, was setting aside land in Township 10 
south. Range 1 west sections 26 and 35, and Township 
11 south. Range 1 west sections 2 and 3 for the many 
famihes of Luisefios who had occupied and cultivated a 
place at Pechanga, after having been ejected from then 
prosperous adobe vUlage of Temecula m 1875 (Brigandi 
1998). Lawson argued that for many of the same reasons, 
aUotment was not practical here (Lawson n.d.a:4063-1881, 
Jan. 10,1881). UntU Congress acted to create one large 
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reservation, Lawson reasoned, land must be set aside for 
the Mission Indians as an interim measure. 

The captain of the Pechanga people came to Lawson m 
early 1882 to press theh case, and Lawson made this report: 

At great labor, they developed water by smkmg wells. 
It is theh last refuge, and they fear, with good reason 
that, when white men find they have unproved and 
made h habitable, this also wiU be taken from them. I 
have not been upon the spot to know what theh pros­
pects are, but the fact, that it remained unclaimed and 
from what I know of the country round leads to the 
conclusion that at best it affords a scanty subsistence. 
They want it nevertheless; nothing better is to be 
foimd and driven from this, they have nowhere to go. 
But I am told, it is not the policy of the government to 
multiply small and isolated reservations: yet, what is to 
be done if government withholds from them this boon, 
small though it be, and fails to provide larger [ital­
ics added]. In my opinion, these people should have 
this land, occupied by them, reserved from sale and 
settlement at once, tiU such tune, as other and better 
provision could be made. 

To requhe them to homestead it, would not be 
practicable as it is doubtful whether it would afford 
three families, the allowance under the Homestead 
Act, while otherwise thirty famiUes wiU find a home 
on it. ...Cases similar to this, respecting other Indian 
settlements have repeatedly been laid before the 
Department, with similar recommendations: but have 
so far eUcited no response. The situation of the Agent 
under the circumstances is most harassing. 1 have 
repeatedly placed myself between Indians on the one 
hand, occupying land as these do, and white men on the 
other, determined to possess the same, and promised 
the Indians, "you shaU not be driven away," but, with 
no recognition of the Indian in law, the white man 
has gone to the land office, entered his claims to the 
land in question, swearing if need be that it is "uncul­
tivated, imoccupied, and not in the adverse possession 
of another." And I am forced to stand aside and see the 
Indians driven away, simply because he is an Indian and 
has no rights under the law. Rather than have this mjus­
tice continue, if government does not provide homes for 
them, I would reserve from sale and settlement, every 
acre of government land now occupied by them [itaUcs 
added]. In rane cases out of ten, they go upon land that 
would never be taken up by white men, and, when they 
have spent years of toil on it, making it deshable, then 
white men covet it, and the law gives it to them. Where 
is the mducement for the Indian to labor m civiUzed 
pursuits and try to maintam himself? [Lawson to Price 
m Lawson n.d.a:3256-1882, Feb 8,1882]. 

On March 2,1882, the Pechanga lands were set 

aside by executive order of President Hayes (Kappler 

1971:822). 

Persistence by Lawson to have land set aside at the 
Portrero finaUy met with success in the first days of the 
Garfield administration (Kappler 1971:822). Lawson 
wrote an exultant letter to the acting Commissioner of 
Indian Affairs: 

I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of 
L1277-4394 1881 March 14,1881 and accompanymg 
papers including Executive Order of March 9,1881 
setting apart lands in Township 2 s r 1 e s.b. meridian 
with the remark that it affords me as much pleasure as 
it does the Indians interested to know that this nation's 
question is at last settled. Capt John [Morongo, the 
band's uiterpreter and captain, for whom the Portrero 
reservation was renamed] whose home is on the 
Portrero at the readmg of the Executive order that 
secures to his people their homes,gave impression to his 
feelings by waving his hat and hurrahing for President 
Garfield [Lawson n.d.a:5619-1881, March 16,1881]. 

Lawson also made recommendations, upon the 
pleas of Indians, to set aside some additional lands for 
the San Jacmto people (Lawson n.d.a:5868-1883, March 
21,1883), and for giving the Torres people fuU control 
of their executive order lands (Lawson n.d.a:539-1880, 
Aprils, 1880). 

INDIAN IMPATIENCE 

Lawson's efforts were finally bringing some results, 
bolstering his confidence regarding his effectiveness and 
his paternalistic feelings with respect to "his Indians," 
but some groups under threat of land and resource loss 
were impatient and sought to circumvent Lawson in 
order to get results. Two examples will suffice. At San 
Ysidro, above Wamer's Springs (now part of Los Coyotes 
Reservation), white homesteaders had appropriated the 
best land, and the arrival of more homesteaders agitated 
Captahi Pablo Pena, who made visits to Lawson to ask 
for help, the last in Febmary, 1883 (Lawson n.d.a:3522-
1883, Feb. 15,1883). When Lawson's pleas for redress to 
Washington got no results, Pena went to Los Angeles and 
got an audience with the U.S. court commissioner, Henry 
T Lee. Lee interested himself hi this case of intrusion by 
homesteaders Armin Cloos and Chatham Helm. Pena 
and his men also caUed upon Antonio Coronel, arriving at 
the Coronel home when Helen Hunt Jackson was there, 
his "grief-stamped face" making a forceful impression 
upon her (Mathes 1998; see Figure 5). Why weren't 
these intruders ejected when the Supreme Court had 
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Figures. Soboba Indian Captain. 
Why this captain has fiber net over him is unknown, but his 
scarred face and the net enclosing him evoke the desperate 
conditions of the last third of the 19th century for Southem 
Califomia Indians. (Pierce Collection, Huntington Library) 

verified that "lands subject to entry must be uncultivated, 

unimproved, and not in the adverse possession of 

another?" (Lawson n.d.a:3522-1883, Feb. 15,1883). 

The Luisefio Indians, formerly of Rancho Cuca on 

the slopes of Mount Palomar, also decided they must 

take matters into theh own hands; they determined that 

they must raise the money to visit Washington, D. C. 

themselves in order to put theh case before the authorities, 

but Lawson discouraged them. In April, 1882, about fifty 

Indians appealed to a sympathetic white farmer to write 

a letter for them to Washington to make known their 

wants and grievances. The neighbor attested that he 

had seen many mjustices to the Indians m the previous 

fourteen years, though the Luisenos were industrious 

and law-abiding. In his letter, the farmer conveyed the 
information that Lawson would not recognize their 
chief, and they wanted to know if they could come to 
Washington, D.C. They "are contm[uaUy] drove from one 
peace [sic] of land to another on some pretext or other 
and have never had any things from the commissioner 
but promises and threats they claim they could be self 
sustaming if left alone on theh lands and aloud [sic] some 
assurance of not being disturbed" (Adams n.d.; Lawson 
n.d.a:17552-1882, Sept. 19,1882). Lawson, m his defense, 
said he felt keenly his hiabUity to do anything for them if 
Congress would not appropriate money. The Indians "are 
growing impatient at what they consider the inabUity of 
the Agent to do anything for them, and, h is useless to try 
to explam it to them.... Lands, available now for every 
purpose of these Indians wUl soon be out of reach on 
account of the increasing hnmigration into this region of 
the country" (Lawson n.d.a:I98-1882 Dec. 28,1881). 

When the Luisefios under Captain Jose [Albanez] 
claimed their water rights were being stolen by half-
breed Andreas Scott and wanted to go to Washington 
D.C, Lawson's response was defensive. He wanted to 
go to Washington, D.C. himself to represent the Mission 
Indians, and thought he alone had the knowledge and 
authority to do this. Lawson had been tryhig to chaUenge 
the centrahzed authority of Mission Agency head chiefs or 
"generals" since at least 1881, saying such an empowered 
person dominated his subjects "under the most frivolous 
pretext, and to gratify his vanity, he saw fit to caU them 
together" (Lawson 1881:14). Lawson had been at odds 
with the Luiseno leadership since the spring of 1880, but 
now he accused them of higratitude and of being "seU-
wUled and quarrelsome." He had "by dmt of hard work 
on my part, fmstrated [non-Indian] efforts to dispossess 
them of then homes" under the Desert Land Act, and 
gotten land for them in Township 10 S, Range 1 West. But 
now they wanted more: 

They were "self-willed and quarrelsome" and 
ungovernable through theh vanity and pretensions to 
authority. To add to theh troubles, the Capt., Albanez, 
is of a class of Indian sub-chiefs who are averse to 
settUng down to civilized pursuits: but who take great 
pride in playing the Indian, in holding councils, and 
projectmg visits to Washmgton. There lies the whole 
difficulty Their grievances are not really worth the 
mention: but are assumed for an excuse to go to 
Washmgton that the Capt. may appear as a "big Injun." 
Of course I have discouraged any such fooUshness,and 



ARTICLE I The Mixed Legacy of Mission Indian Agent S.S. Lawson, 1678-1883 | Thorne 165 

therefore they think I am not trying to do anything for 
them, where, as a matter of fact, I have done more for 
them in securing laws for them, than for any others 
[Lawson n.d.a:17552-1882, Sept. 19,1882]. 

Indian impatience for results and their complaints 
regarding Lawson's ineffectuahty and hifrequent visits to 
theh communities, along with Lawson's defensive posture, 
suggested that somethhig was afoul. There was friction 
between Agent Lawson and some of the "wards" under his 
chargclbe situation was ripe for Helen Hunt Jackson to find 
fault with him as an agent. When she arrived m the spring 
of 1883 to begin her mvestigation of conditions, Lawson 
hutiaUy extended every comtesy to help her. She came to 
his home m San Bemardino and he lent her his interpreter 
for her tour of Southem Califomia. They corresponded 
amicably. But as she pursued her investigations, heard 
many complaints about an ongoing siege on lands and 
resources, she began digging into Lawson's conduct. 

Helen Hunt Jackson's inquiries hi and of themselves 
were a terrible affront to a man who saw himself as having 
labored selflessly and virtuously in the Mission Indians' 
behalf Jackson peremptorily demanded the dismissal 
of a school teacher who she had heard was gmlty of 
sexual hnpropriety with his students. She also directly 
challenged Lawson's authority in countermanding his 
pohcy regarding generals. What mfuriated Lawson most 
was that at Pechanga, the Indians were unsure as to who 
was now the authority, Jackson or Lawson. "[A] councU 
was caUed of the people there, to know of me whether 
they are to obey my orders or hers;" they later requhed 
Lawson to show them a written document before they 
would submit to his authority (Lawson n.d.a:10808-1883, 
June 1,1883). After a tense correspondence between 
Jackson and Lawson in the spring of 1883, in which 
Lawson refused to summarily dismiss the school teacher, 
Lawson complained of Jackson in a letter to Commissioner 
Price. No more grim evidence that Lawson had come 
to hold the security and power of bis office above the 
interests and wishes of the Indians under his charge can 
be found than his statement m mid-1883 to Commissioner 
of Indian Affahs Hiram Price that the Mission Indians 
were "contented and prosperous in every way": 

Coming ostensibly, to inqiure into the "Condition of the 
Indians," she assumed the prerogatives of the Agent.... 
She...restored the office of General which I had 
aboUshed, and without consulting them, had appointed 
a General over the tribe, giving him a commission.... 

With a mere sentiment and no knowledge practically, 
of the Indian character, expressions and advice are 
attributed to her, which have seriously effected the 
interests of the service.... She has assumed to rule 
with a high hand, and whether or not her commission 
to "mquhe mto the condition of the Mission Indians" 
gave her the authority she assumed, I am free to 
confess, she has done the service at this Agency more 
harm than good. The criticisms by the people and 
press are anything but favorable respecting her and 
her work. AU I have to say, and I say it reverentiy, from 
future female commissioners, good Lord deliver us! 
A criminal and civil suit is now pending agamst Mrs. 
Jackson for defamation of Lawson's character and for 
damages [Lawson n.d.a:10808-1883, June 1,1883]. 

Lawson subsequently moderated his self-righteous 
attitude toward Jackson, blamed the misunderstandings 
on his interpreter's meddlesome behavior, and retracted 
his harsher comments about her to Price. But he was 
dismissed or—under pressure to do so—resigned. What 
transpired is unclear, but the few extant letters written 
by him after leaving his job as agent reveal that he 
wished to be vindicated and wanted to recover his lost 
position. He did this at first, for example, by lending bis 
services towards reform to Helen Hunt Jackson to save 
the San Jacinto Indians from ejection, and offering his 
expertise to the newly organized Women's National 
Indian Association. He directed muckraking fury at 
the activities of his successor McCallum, provoking 
McCaUum's successor as Indian Agent, John Ward, to 
accuse Lawson of being an Indian lover warped by 
false sentimentalism, and not respected by the San 
Bemardmo community. In a more dubious vein, Lawson 
worked surreptitiously to have Agent Horatio Rust (who 
assumed the position as agent in the early 1890s and was 
Helen Hunt Jackson's choice for the position) deposed. 
He wrote a conspiratorial letter to John Morongo in 
1890 regarding getting rid of Rust and getting himself 
reappointed. Rust clahned Lawson "did all he could to 
make me trouble but faded to prove anything wrong" (m 
Lawson n.d.c, Nov 22,1890). 

CONCLUSION: THE IMPACT OF AGENT 
S.S. LAWSON ON THE MISSION INDIANS 

One of the chief values of the Lawson correspondence 

is that it provides a glimpse into the passing of the 

independent rancheria era for Southern California 
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Indians, when they enjoyed a modicum of prosperity 

and security. They had adobe homes, orchards, vineyards, 

improved properties, cattle and horses, and lived with 

some dignity before the 1870s and the advance of 

homesteaders who could find no other land on the pubhc 

domain than that of vulnerable Indians to claim. The 

correspondence also reveals Indian responses to the crisis 

during a period far less known than the time after Helen 

Hunt Jackson's arrival, which is comparatively better 

documented. 

Compared to his successors—McCallum, John 

Ward, or even Horatio Rust—Lawson more clearly 

and sincerely focused his energies as an advocate for 

Indian people; he held his difficult job as Mission Indian 

Agent far longer than his predecessor Colbum or his 

successors.'^ Even the San Diego Union, which viewed 

Lawson as ineffectual, conceded that he had "an honest 

deshe to do his duty" (San Diego Union, March 27,1880). 

What Agent John Ward mtended as an insult appears in 

retrospect to be a compliment. Ward faulted Lawson for 

being too much a friend to Indians, proudly boastmg of 

his own neutrahty—holding "the scales of Justice evenly 

between the Whites and the Indians" (Ward n.d.). 

Lawson's overall impact on the Mission Indian 

Agency is best described as mixed. On the one hand, his 

tenure as agent had an important, formative influence on 

the shape the Mission Indian Agency was ultimately to 

take, expanding and defending the land base. His favored 

reservation, Portrero or Morongo, grew to encompass a 

large area of desert land, but with enviable water rights. 

Pechanga was carved from the pubhc domain. But Santa 

Ysabel ranch might have been purchased without his 

obstmction. After 1881, Lawson courageously defended 

the executive order reservations, and blocked the full 

implementation of the Indian Homestead policy to 

supplant the communaUy-held reserves. These are a few 

of the hnportant ways, for better or worse, that Lawson 

shaped the landscape of the Mission Indian Agency. 

Clearly, the powerful Jackson stole the limelight, and 

echpsed Lawson's worthy efforts. On the other hand, to 

argue that S.S. Lawson was an unsung hero is to overstate 

the case. Lawson may best be remembered for his dogged 

advocacy of a "one reservation" policy in Southern 

Cahfornia, which violated the wishes of Indian people 

adamantly opposed to consolidation. Through no fault 

of his own, he could only infrequently deliver on his 

promises to protect them or theh lands. His visits to theh 
communities were few, far between, and superficial.'-^ 
He never learned theh language or culture or seemingly 
made much effort to do so, though he did buUd schools 
and invite Lutheran missionaries to come minister to 
them. Though weU-meaning, he was dangerous because 
of his power. From the native perspective, notably that 
of the Luisenos and Dieguefios, he may weU have been 
viewed as part of the problem, not a part of the solution. 

NOTES 

^Lawson to Helen Hunt Jackson, June 7,1883; transcription m 
HHJ's hand (Lawson n.d.b). 

Riverside County was formed in 1893 from parts of San Diego 
and San Bemardino counties. J.E. Colbum was the first agent. 
Grant set aside nine reservations in 1875: Portrero (with three 
Luiseiio communities, later separate reserves of La Jolla, Rincon 
and Yapiche), Cahuilla, Capitan Grande, Santa Ysabel, Pala, 
Agua Caliente (aka Warner's Ranch, with multiple villages 
uicluding San Ysidro, later Los Coyotes reservation), Sycuan, 
Inaja, and Cosmit. By executive order on May 20,1876, more 
were set aside: Mission [Creek],Torres, Cabezon, Portrero (later 
called Morongo/Malki, with Cahuilla and Serrano people), 
Agua CaUente (PaUn Springs), and three communities simply 
designated as viUages. This followed an abortive effort to set 
aside two large reserves in 1870 in the Pala and San Pasqual 
vaUeys. Another reservation was set aside in 1877 by President 
Rutherford B. Hayes 

According to some unconfirmed sources, Lawson's first name 
was Samuel. In thel880 U.S. census, S.S. Lawson is Usted as 
married; in the 19(K) census, a Stephen S. Lawson is listed as 
Uving m Los Angeles' Ward 6; see San Diego Union, March 26, 
1880, and http://www.heritagepursuit.com/cashocton/cofile4. 
htm, accessed July 10,2005. 

There are approximately four dozen letters and reports to 
the Commissioner of Indian Affairs and other superiors in 
RG75, Special Cases 31, National Archives I, Washington, 
D.C. (hereafter cited as Lawson n.d.a, foUowed by document 
number and date), in addition to annual reports to the CIA, 
a major source for the current study. There are also two 
letters in the Huntington Library (RU 439, Lawson to John 
Morongo, Nov 22, 1890; and CT 1544, Lawson to Chahners 
Scott, Jan. 27, 1881); and nme letters to Helen Hunt Jackson ui 
the HHJ CoUection, Thtt Library, Colorado CoUege, Colorado 
Springs, Colorado: Letters relatmg to Indian Affahs, Box 2 HHJ 
Papers, Part 1, Ms. 0020, Folder 4 (cited here as Lawson n.d.b). 
Valerie Sherer Mathes has made extensive use of these sources 
m her articles and books on Helen Hunt Jackson. 

^Letter from Helen Hunt Jackson to Antonio F. and Mariana 
Coronel, Aug. 19,1883 (Mathes 1998:289-90); HHJ to Ephraun 
Morse, November 3,1883 (Madies 1998:293-7). 

http://www.heritagepursuit.com/cashocton/cofile4
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Spanish, meaning "pasture lands;" there were numerous places 
with this name ui Southem Califomia where missions, ranchos, 
and Indians pastured stock. The La Jolla reserve, aka Cuca 
Rancho, was also caUed a "portrero." Readers should note that 
there were at least two commumties caUed "Rincon" (from the 
Spanish term for a boxed canyon), and two communities (one at 
PaUn Springs and one at Wamer's Ranch) caUed Agua Caliente 
(translated from the Spanish as "hot water" or "hot springs"). 

^After Olegario's death in 1877, there was a struggle over 
succession and the question of who would be the "general" of 
the Luiseiios. Jose Antonio Sal was favored by the whites and 
held the position as General until November, 1878; Olegario's 
crowd put forward another candidate (Hyer 2001). The Rancho 
San Jacinto Viejo was partitioned in 1882. 

^ Phil Brigandi is the source of this quote (Brigandi, personal 
communication, Aug. 15,2005). 

' The dissolution of the Pala and San Pasqual executive-order 
reservations and the subsequent eviction of the Temecula 
Indians in 1875 created some local pubUc sympathy as weU as 
the wUl by the Indian bureau to create an Indian land-base in 
Southem California. 

10 See editorials of Jan. 27,1880, Feb 3,1880, Feb. 26,1880, and 
March, 4,1880. 

11 Neither this petition (with its list of signators and specific 
charges) nor Lawson's defense have yet been located in the 
BIA records. 

1̂  McCallum served as agent from 1883 to 1886 and was 
succeeded by John S. Ward, who served from 1886 to 1887. Ward 
was replaced by Joseph Preston, who was Mission Agent from 
1887 to 1889. Horatio Rust foUowed as agent; he was dismissed 
prematurely for aUeged wrongdoing. 

1̂  Lawson made a number of excuses as to why he had not taken 
a trip to mvestigate a situation in San Diego County (Lawson 
n.d.a:20844-1882, Nov 13). He claimed in his 1881 Annual 
Report to have made an arduous 1000-mile trip over desert 
and mountains, involving great labor and difficulty, m 1880-81, 
and while his correspondence shows a reasonable knowledge 
of situations on different reservations, there is no extant report 
on this tour ui SC-31. The Jackson-Kinney report contains the 
report by J.G. Stanley, based on interviews with the Desert 
Indians, that Lawson had never visited them nor taken any 
mterest m them, though he did make at least one vish m 1878 
(Jackson and Kmney 1883:506). 
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